RECEIVED

09-28-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case No. 2017AP1417

FOND DU LAC COUNTY,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

ISAAC ANTHONY DAHLKE, Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL OF AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND DISMISSING THE CASE ENTERED IN FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE ROBERT J. WIRTZ, PRESIDING

> BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT, FOND DU LAC COUNTY

> > Eric Toney District Attorney

Curtis A. Borsheim State Bar. No. 1004536 Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

District Attorney's Office 160 S. Macy Street Fond du Lac, WI 54935 (920)929-3048

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Deputy Olson saw a vehicle enter a closed county park. May an officer's observation of a non-traffic forfeiture offense form the basis for a stop of the vehicle and seizure of its occupants?

The circuit court granted Dahlke's motion to dismiss resulting from the traffic stop. It concluded that no one would have known that Wayside park was a county park and further that being in the park after hours was not enough for a stop. (22: 41-42)

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not believe that this case meets the statutory criteria to justify oral argument or publication.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE

On November 13, 2016, Deputy Lucas Olson issued a citation for possession of marijuana, 1^{st} offense, in violation of Fond du Lac County Ordinance 038-207, to Isaac Dahlke. (1: 1)

Subsequently, Dahlke, through counsel, entered a "not guilty" plea to the violation and also filed a motion to dismiss for unlawful stop. (4: 1-4)

On February 20, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held on Dahlke's motion. (22: 1-43) Judge Robert J. Wirtz found, on that day, that there was an insufficient basis for the traffic stop and granted Dahlke's motion.

During the testimony on February 20, 2017, Deputy Lucas Olson, of the Fond du Lac County Sheriff's Department, testified that he was traveling southbound on Highway U.S. 45 in Fond du Lac County, Wisconsin, at approximately 12:26 a.m. on November 13, 2017. (22:4). Deputy Olson testified that he observed another vehicle traveling southbound on Highway U.S. 45 ahead of him which was turned into the Wayside Park. (22:4) When the vehicle was turned into Wayside Park, Deputy Olson considered it to be suspicious in nature because the park was closed and was an area known for being a place for use of illegal drugs and drinking, especially at that time of the morning.(22: 5 20-23) Deputy Olson testified that Wayside Park is a county park in Fond du Lac County, and that it was closed at the time the vehicle turned in. The park is owned and maintained by the county. (22:5: 16-23).

Deputy Olson testified that there is sign at the entrance of Wayside Park that provides the rules and regulations of the park, including the hours that the park was open, The sign is fairly large, and the sign is illuminated when headlights are shined on it. (22: 6:25, 7:4-6). Wayside Park has 2 entrances, northernmost and southernmost. (22: 6:7-8). Aerial photographs of Wayside Park are depicted in exhibits. (7: 1-4)

Deputy Olson testified that he saw the Dahlke vehicle after he entered Wayside Park, and he could see that the headlights of the Dahlke vehicle were facing west. (22: 9:11-12). The possible routes of travel for the Dahlke vehicle, once it had turned around, would be that it could go straight and exit the park from the southernmost exit onto Highway U.S. 45 or it could have been turned to the right to head north, towards the northernmost entrance of the Wayside Park. (22: 9:13-18). Deputy Olson turned his squad around and followed the Dahlke vehicle and effected a traffic stop by activating his squad's emergency lights within Wayside Park. Deputy Olson testified that the traffic stop of the Dahlke vehicle was based upon the fact that the Dahlke vehicle was in the park after hours. (22: 20 14-16).

On or about March 21, 2017, the circuit court signed an Order granting the motion to dismiss for Unlawful stop. (8:1)

On or about March 31, 2017, the circuit court signed an Order vacating the Order granting the motion to dismiss. (11: 1). The circuit court thereafter reviewed materials submitted on behalf of the State for reconsideration of the motion, (10: 1-3) as well as materials submitted in support of the motion to dismiss, (12: 1-2).

The circuit court rendered it's decision on the State's motion for reconsideration on April 19, 2017. (23: 1-9) An Order granting Dahlke's motion to dismiss was signed on or about April 27, 2017. (15:1)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred when it granted Dahlke's motion to dismiss due to an unlawful stop.

A law enforcement officer may lawfully seize a person without a warrant for a civil non-traffic forfeiture offense if (1) the violation occurs in the officer's presence, and (2) the statute authorized the officer to do so.

Fond du Lac County Ordinance Sec. 42.35 provides that the hours of use by the public for any park, trail, or outdoor recreation area shall be from 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m., and that it is unlawful for any person to be in any park, trail or outdoor recreation area ... outside of the established hours.

Fond du Lac County Ordinance Sec. 42.34 (a) provides that any law enforcement officer may issue a citation or arrest any offender who is in violation of any provision of this article.

The county ordinance violation occurred in the presence of Deputy Olson and the county ordinance authorized an a citation or arrest of Dahlke under the circumstances, justifying the traffic stop.

The motion to dismiss should have been denied.

ARGUMENT

Deputy Olson lawfully stopped Dahlke's vehicle to investigate the forfeiture offense of being in Wayside Park after hours.

A. Applicable constitutional provisions.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. Art. I, § 11. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has historically interpreted Article I, § 11 and its protections against unreasonable searches and seizures in a manner consistent with the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 38, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775 (finding no reason "to depart from our customary practice of interpreting Article I, Section 11 in accord with the Fourth Amendment").

B. Applicable ordinances.

Fond du Lac County Ordinance Sec. 42.31 – Application

This article shall apply to the grounds, buildings thereon, and waters therein for each park, trail, and outdoor recreation area or facility owned or managed by Fond du Lac County which is under the jurisdiction of the Fond du Lac County Parks and Development Committee or its successor committee. ... The parks, trails and outdoor recreation areas or facilities governed by this Article include, but are not limited to, ...Highway 45 Wayside Park,

Fond du Lac County Ordinance Sec. 42.35 provides that the hours of use by the public for any park, trail or outdoor recreation area shall be from 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. and makes it unlawful for any person to be in any park, trail or outdoor recreation area except registered campers in designated campgrounds, outside the established hours.

Fond du Lac County Ordinance Sec. 42.34 authorizes any law enforcement officer to issue a citation or arrest any offender who is in violation of any provision of the ordinance.

C. Standard of review.

Whether police conduct violates the protections against unreasonable searches and seizures presents a question of constitutional fact. On review, an appellate court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. But the application of Fourth Amendment principles to the facts found presents a question of law that appellate courts review independently. *State v. Brereton*, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 17, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369. "A finding is clearly erroneous if 'it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 12, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748 (citations omitted).

The applicability of the Fond du Lac County Ordinances to Dahlke's case presents a question of statutory interpretation. Statutory interpretation and a statute's application to specific facts present questions of law that this Court reviews independently, benefiting from the lower courts' analysis. *State v. Matasek*, 2014 WI 27, ¶ 10, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811.

D. A deputy has the authority to stop an automobile and seize its occupants when the officer has probable cause or reasonable suspicion to believe that an occupant has committed a non-traffic forfeiture offense.

Wisconsin courts have long recognized an officer's authority to seize persons who commit forfeiture offenses. This authority is not limited to violations of traffic regulations and extends to non-traffic forfeiture offenses. These same principles that allow an officer to stop an automobile in the course of enforcing civil traffic regulations reasonably extend to non-traffic forfeiture offenses as well.

1. General legal principles governing the reasonableness of traffic stops.

An officer's detention of an individual during a traffic stop constitutes a seizure of a person within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. A seizure must be reasonable under the circumstances. A traffic seizure is reasonable if the officer has probable cause or reasonable suspicion to believe that a crime or a traffic violation has occurred. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569; see also *State v. Brown*, 2014 WI 69, ¶ 20, 355 Wis. 2d 668, 850 N.W.2d 66 ("A traffic stop can be based on probable cause or reasonable suspicion.").

The State bears the burden of proving that a stop satisfies the reasonableness requirement. Id. The constitutional reasonableness of a traffic stop does not depend on the actual motivations of the individual officer involved. *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 812-13 (1996). As long as the officer has an objectively reasonable basis to seize and search an automobile and its occupants, an officer's subjective intent does not render otherwise lawful conduct illegal or unconstitutional. *State v. Baudhuin*, 141 Wis. 2d 642, 651-52, 416 N.W.2d 60 (1987).

2. Officers may conduct traffic stops based on probable cause to believe that a non-criminal forfeiture violation has occurred.

Probable cause refers to the "'quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe" that a crime or a traffic violation has occurred. *Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 118, ¶ 14, (citing *Johnson v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 344, 348, 249 N.W.2d 593 (1977)). Probable cause exists when the officer has reasonable grounds to believe that the person is committing or has committed a crime or a traffic violation. The evidence need not establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more probable than not, but rather, probable cause requires that the information "lead a reasonable officer to believe that guilt is more than a possibility." *Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 118, ¶ 14 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

An officer possesses the authority to arrest a person without a warrant for violating a non-criminal "traffic regulation" if the officer has reasonable grounds to believe that the person is violating a traffic regulation. Wis. Stat. § 345.22. "Implicit in the authority to arrest for a traffic violation is the authority to stop the vehicle where the officer has reasonable grounds to believe the violation has occurred." *Baudhuin*, 141 Wis. 2d at 648; *see also Johnson*, 75 Wis. 2d at 348 ("Reasonable grounds' and probable cause are synonymous.") (quoted source omitted).

The automobile stops in *Popke* and *Baudhuin* related to potential violations of traffic regulations. But nothing in those decisions precludes extension of the principles that supported those stops to non-traffic forfeiture offenses.

3. An officer's authority to seize a person without a warrant extends to non-traffic forfeiture violations.

In State v. Iverson, 365 2d 302, 871 N.W.2d 661 (2015), the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that: "(1) the Wisconsin Legislature has explicitly authorized state troopers to conduct traffic stops in order to investigate violations of Wis. Stat. § 287.81 and to arrest violators of the statute under specified conditions; (2) a traffic stop to enforce \S 287.81 is generally reasonable if an officer has probable cause or reasonable suspicion that a violation of § 287.81 has occurred; (3) discarding a cigarette butt onto a highway violates § 287.81; and (4) based on his observations, the officer in this case had probable cause to believe that an occupant of Iverson's vehicle had violated § 287.81 by throwing a cigarette butt onto the highway.an officer may arrest a person without a warrant for a non-criminal ordinance violation as long as (1) the violation occurs in the officer's presence, unless other factors exist; and (2) a statute authorizes the officer to do so. Id. at 457-58. " at Par. 4

The violation of the littering statute was a non-traffic ordinance violation. See also: *State v. Thomas*, No. 2015AP1518-CR, unpublished slip op., paragraph11, (WI App June 21, 2016). (stop for parking violation);

4. Deputy Olson had probable cause to believe that Dahlke had violated the Fond du Lac County Ordinance establishing park hours.

For the reasons provided above, Deputy Olson had authority to stop the Dahlke vehicle and its occupants. The enumerated Fond du Lac County Ordinances establish the "open" and "closed" hours for the county parks and further authorize any law enforcement officer to write a citation or arrest anyone violating the ordinance.

E. Alternatively, Deputy Olson acted lawfully and on reasonable suspicion when he stopped Dahlke's vehicle based upon his prior knowledge of illegal activity at this park during closed hours.

Deputy Olson had probable cause for a traffic stop based upon his observation that the Dahlke vehicle was in the Wayside Park after hours. Because the higher probable cause standard has been met, this Court need not decide whether reasonable suspicion supported the traffic stop. *See Miesen v. D.O.T.*, 226 Wis. 2d 298, 309, 594 N.W.2d 821 (Ct. App. 1999) (appellate courts should decide cases on the narrowest ground possible).

Should this Court disagree and determine that Olson lacked probable cause for the stop, then the State contends that Olson acted lawfully and upon reasonable suspicion. Olson acted lawfully because an officer may conduct a traffic stop based upon reasonable suspicion that a person inside a vehicle has committed a non-traffic forfeiture offense. In this case, Olson's observations provided reasonable suspicion that an occupant in Dahlke's vehicle may about to engage in illegal activity.

1. Officers may conduct traffic stops based upon reasonable suspicion that a non-traffic forfeiture violation has occurred.

Wisconsin courts have upheld the temporary seizure of an automobile's driver based solely upon an officer's reasonable suspicion that the driver had violated a noncriminal traffic regulation. In State v. Griffin, 183 Wis. 2d 327, 330-31, 515 N.W.2d 535 (Ct. App. 1994), the court held that an officer may perform an investigatory stop of a vehicle based on a reasonable suspicion of a non-criminal traffic violation. Relying on Griffin, this Court subsequently explained: "[A]n officer may make an investigative stop if the officer 'reasonably suspects' that a person has committed or is about to commit a crime, . . . or reasonably suspects that a person is violating the non-criminal traffic laws." County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 310, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999) (quoted source omitted) (footnote omitted). In several cases decided after Renz, the court of appeals has upheld stops based solely upon an officer's reasonable suspicion that a vehicle's operator had committed a non-criminal traffic offense.

When the Legislature has expressly authorized an officer to conduct a traffic stop to investigate a non-traffic forfeiture offense, this Court should find that it includes the authority to conduct an investigatory stop based on reasonable suspicion. Here, Wis. Stat. § 110.07(1)(a)1. expressly authorizes officers to stop moving vehicles to investigate specific forfeiture offenses, including littering. *Id.* (troopers shall "have the authority . . . to stop such vehicles while en route at any time upon the public highways to examine the same and make arrests for all violations thereof"). Wis. Stat. § 110.07(1)(a).

Wisconsin courts have consistently held that officers may conduct a vehicle stop based solely upon an officer's

reasonable suspicion that a person has violated a non-criminal traffic regulation. No sound reason exists for differentiating between traffic and non-traffic forfeiture offenses, permitting officers to conduct investigatory stops for the former, but not the latter. Prohibiting an officer from briefly seizing a person whom the officer reasonably and articulably suspects of violating a non-traffic forfeiture offense prevents the officer from enforcing laws that the Legislature has deemed important to enforce.

2. Deputy Olson had reasonable suspicion that someone in the Dahlke vehicle may be engaging in illegal activity.

For the same reasons articulated above, the record demonstrates that Deputy Olson had a reasonable suspicion that an occupant in Dahlke's vehicle may about to be engaged in illegal activity. Deputy Olson saw Dahlke's vehicle being driven into a closed park. This park was one in which Deputy Olson was aware of prior drug and alcohol related violations after park hours. Under the circumstances, Deputy Olson acted reasonably when he stopped the Dahlke vehicle and temporarily seized its occupants for the purpose of investigating the suspicious circumstance.

CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court to reverse the circuit court's decision granting Dahlke's motion to suppress evidence and dismissing his case. Dated this 22ND day of September, 2017.