RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CASE NO. 2017AP1417

12-08-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

FOND DU LAC COUNTY,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

ISAAC ANTHONY DAHLKE,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL OF AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND DISMISS THE CASE ENTERED IN FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE ROBERT J. WIRTZ, PRESIDING

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ANTHONY L. O'MALLEY
ZACHERL, O'MALLEY & ENDEJAN, S.C.
State Bar No. 1011187
115 S. Main Street
Fond du Lac, WI 54935
(920) 922-7220
Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the County waive the issue of whether the park closure ordinance can support the probable cause analysis for the stop?

The trial court accepted the waiver at oral argument.

2. Is turning around in a highway wayside at 12:30 a.m. sufficient probable cause for an investigatory stop?

The trial court correctly held: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Dahlke is not requesting oral argument as the issues can be well presented in the parties' briefs.

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At approximately 12:30 a.m. on November 13, 2016, Isaac Dahlke was traveling southbound in his car on U.S. Highway 45 in Fond du Lac County. (R. 22:25, 8-10). At the same time, Fond du Lac County Deputy Sheriff Lucas Olson was on patrol in his squad car also southbound on Highway 45. (R. 22:4, 14-24). Deputy Olson was far enough behind Dahlke's car that Deputy Olson could only make out Dahlke's taillights. (R. 22:4, 25; R. 22:5, 1-12). The deputy did not observe any unlawful driving behavior. (R. 22:11, 20-22). Deputy Olson then observed Dahlke's car turn left into an area clearly marked on the highway as a wayside. (R. 22:4, 20-24; R. 22:18, 2-6; R. 7:3).

The highway wayside had two entrances that also serve as exits, a vehicle parking area and a boat launch. (R. 7, 1). Immediately adjacent to the wayside is a park area that stretches east to Lake Winnebago. (R.

7, 1). Situated at the entrance of the park¹ and east of the wayside is an unilluminated sign that posted the hours for which the park is open and some park rules. (R. 22:6, 4-6; R. 7, 1; R. 7, 4). The park sign is difficult to see at night. (R. 22:15, 19-25; 22:16, 1-3). Dahlke saw the sign for the wayside, but did not see the unilluminated park sign. (R. 22:5-11; R. 22: 27, 24-25; R. 22:28, 1-4).

At the moment that Dahlke's car turned into the wayside, Dahlke's car was far enough away that Deputy Olson could not determine whether Dahlke's car had turned into the north or south entrance to the wayside. (R. 22:14, 15-18). Deputy Olson drove to the north most entrance of the wayside and turned into the wayside where he then observed Dahlke's car make a U-turn at the southern end of the wayside near the boat launch. (R. 22:12. 10-18). Dahlke's car continued in the direction of the north most entrance toward Deputy Olson's squad car. (R. 22: 26, 17-25). As Dahlke's car approached Deputy Olson's squad car, Deputy Olson activated his emergency lights, drove past Dahlke's car and turned behind Dahlke's car. (R. 22:26, 17-25). Dahlke's car had stopped immediately upon Deputy Olson's activation of his emergency lights. (R. 22:27, 1-4).

Deputy Olson testified at the motion hearing that he had not observed the Dahlke car stop or violate any park rules in the wayside or the park. (R. 22:18, 15-25; R. 22:19, 1-24; R. 22:20, 1-3). Deputy Olson did not testify that anybody in Dahlke's car had exited the car or had actually entered the park area beyond the park sign. (R. 22:1-24).

At the hearing Deputy Olson seemed to justify his stop of the Dahlke car on two different grounds. First, Deputy Olson testified that the mere turning into the wayside was suspicious. (R. 22:5, 16-18). In his experience the park has been used in the past for "illegal drugs, drinking and suspicious activities" and that, in conjunction with the early hour of the day, made the use of the highway wayside by an automobile suspicious. (R. 22:5, 16-23). Second, although Deputy Olson was unable to identify the boundaries between the wayside and the park, he felt that using the highway wayside violated a park closure ordinance that prohibited the use of the park between the hours of 10 p.m. and 6 a.m. (R. 22:20, 14-21). However, at the hearing the County

¹ The County's statement of facts suggest that the park sign was at the entrance to the wayside. See, Appellant's Brief, p. 3, ll. 11-13. The park sign was east of the wayside parking lot. (R. 22:41, 15-25; R. 22:42, 1-5).

waived the park closure violation argument, relying instead upon the suspicion aroused in the deputy for the stop. (R. 22:35, 15-18).

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact." State v. Knapp, 2005 WI 127, ¶19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (citation omitted). "A finding of constitutional fact consists of the circuit court's findings of historical fact, and its application of these historical facts to constitutional principles. Review of the former is conducted under the clearly erroneous standard, and the latter independently." State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶13, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182 (citation omitted; emphasis added).

The question is whether the officer had reasonable suspicion to stop Dahlke. This "reasonable suspicion" standard, established in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), provides that "[a] law enforcement officer may lawfully stop an individual if, based upon the officer's experience, she or he reasonably suspects 'that criminal activity may be afoot." *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶21, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 30). "A Terry stop is not an arrest, and the standard for the stop is less than probable cause." *State v. Patton*, 2006 WI App 235, ¶9, 297 Wis. 2d 415, 724 N.W.2d 347. "Instead, the standard is reasonable suspicion, which is 'a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the person stopped of criminal activity." *Id.* (quoting *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 696 (1996) (citation omitted)).

On appeal, this court reviews de novo a trial court's determination of whether there was the requisite reasonable suspicion to justify a seizure. Williams, 2001 WI 21, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶18, 623 N.W.2d 106 ("[T]he determination of reasonable suspicion for an investigatory stop and subsequent protective search is a question of constitutional fact."). State v. Bell, 2008 WI App 135, 313 Wis. 2d 832, 756 N.W.2d 810. The gravity of the offense is a consideration for the court's constitutional analysis. Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 752 (1984). "... [I]t it is sufficient to note that many other lower courts have also considered the gravity of the offense an important part of their constitutional analysis." Welsh, 466 U.S. at 752.

The court should examine the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the facts amount to reasonable suspicion. The totality of the circumstances test asks whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that an individual is committing, is about to commit or has committed a crime. State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). The test is "naturally highly fact specific and [each case] must be decided on its own facts." (Emphasis added). State v. Miller, 2012 WI 61, ¶35, 341 Wis. 2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 349 (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. 1(1968)). An officer must be able to identify specific and articulable facts that warrant the intrusion of a stop; inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunches will not suffice. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶10, 733 N.W.2d 634.

Dahlke asserts that the trial court's analysis is substantially fact based with respect to the boundaries of the wayside versus the park, the adequacy of the signage, whether park rules applied to the wayside and whether Dahlke's behavior in driving into a highway wayside without more rises above a *Terry* "hunch" and, therefore, the trial court's holding is subject to the clearly erroneous standard of review on these details. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶10, 733 N.W.2d 634; *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 32, ¶13, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182

II. WAIVER OF PARK ORDINANCE ARGUMENT

The supreme court has visited this issue before in <u>Nickel v. United</u> <u>States (In re Rehab. of Segregated Account of Ambac Assurance Corp.)</u>, 2012 WI 22, 339 Wis. 2d 48, 59, 810 N.W.2d 450, 455.

Courts have often used the words "waiver" and "forfeiture" interchangeably. However, there are cases which make a distinction between the act of failing (whether by accident or by strategic intention) to assert a right, which is characterized in those cases as "forfeiture," and the act of affirmatively and deliberately relinquishing a right, which in those cases is denominated as "waiver." See United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 733, 113 S. Ct. 1770, 123 L. Ed. 2d 508 (1993), State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21. ¶28, 315 Wis. 2d 653. 761 N.W.2d

<u>Nickel</u>, 2012 WI 22, ¶8 n.10, 339 Wis. 2d 48, 59, 810 N.W.2d 450, 455. At the hearing during an argument colloquy between counsel for the County and the trial court, the County waived its position that the alleged park closing hour ordinance formed a basis for the stop. After a

lengthy discussion about the difference between the wayside and the park and how a highway traveler could tell one from the other (R. 22:34, 1-25; R. 22:35, 1-18), the following colloquy occurred:

THE COURT:

All right. So, it's the suspicious activity, not - - not

the closed park.

MR. BORSHEIM:

That's my argument.

THE COURT:

All right.

(R. 22:35, 15-17). The County relinquished the park closing argument in the trial court and in so doing deprived the trial court of the opportunity to carefully consider the issue and deprived this court of the thoughtful analysis of the trial court. State v. Claude (In re Refusal of Claude), 2004 WI App 21, ¶11, 269 Wis. 2d 543, 674 N.W.2d 681. The argument should not now be revived in this appeal. Id.

III. LAWFUL WAYSIDE TURNAROUND OR EXCURSION INTO A CLOSED PARK

At a little after midnight, as Dahlke traveled down U.S. Highway 45 looking for a place to turn around, he observed a sign directing that a highway wayside was just ahead. As Dahlke continued, another wayside sign directed Dahlke into a paved area with parking stalls and a boat ramp where Dahlke turned around and where he began to drive back to exit onto Highway 45. There was no other actions by Dahlke that were either unlawful or suspicious, other than the presence of an adjacent park that was closed at the time. Dahlke never entered the park area or stopped as though he might. The only notice to an unwary traveler was an unilluminated and difficult to see park sign that was placed, not at the entrance to the wayside, but on the boundary of the park area east of the wayside.

U.S. Highway 45 in Fond du Lac County is a part of the Wisconsin State Trunk Highway System. See, Respondent's Appendix, Exhibit 1. As such it is funded by federal highway aids. See, State Trunk Highway Program, Informational Paper 39, Wisconsin Legislative Fiscal Bureau, January, 2017, pp. 19-21. As a consequence of the state accepting that federal highway funding Wisconsin's State Trunk Highway System is subject to federal transportation regulatory control. See, Named Individual Members of San Antonio Conservation Soc'y v. Tex. Highway Dep't, 446 F.2d 1013, 1027-28 (5th Cir.

1971)(acceptance of federal highway funds by state subjects state highway to federal regulatory control).

§84.04(e) Wis. Stats. defines a wayside:

"Wayside" means an area of land adjacent or in close proximity to the highway, with facilities developed for the convenience, comfort, and enjoyment of the motoring public, these developments to include parking, sanitary, cooking, and picnicking facilities, together with any other facility or improvement which the department deems desirable or necessary to accommodate travelers and provide convenient and safe access thereto by pedestrians and vehicles. "Wayside" includes rest areas. (Emphasis added).

Furthermore, federal highway regulations prohibit adjacent park areas from interfering with waysides on federal highways like U.S. Highway 45. 23 C.F.R. §752.5(d) provides:

Access from the safety rest areas to adjacent publicly owned conservation and recreation areas may be permitted if access to these areas is only available through the rest area and if these areas or their usage does not adversely affect the facilities of the safety rest area. (Emphasis added).

Consequently, the wayside used by Dahlke for his convenient and safe turn-around was indeed a wayside and not a park and Dahlke used it for the exact purpose to be expected at a wayside. 84.04(c) Wis. Stats.

The trial court explicitly found this to be true and also correctly determined that there was an insufficient showing by the County that the wayside was part of the park. (R. 22:34, 17-232; R. 22:41, 15-25: R. 22:42, 1-5). Accordingly, the trial court's implicit finding that the park closing rules did not apply should be upheld.

Assuming, only for arguments sake, that the wayside is part of the park, Even so, Dahlke did not do any of the things listed on the park sign that could be considered unlawful use of the park after hours. There was no "destruction of property, stopping, parking, loitering, littering, disturbance or camping in park area". (R. 7:4). Dahlke could

² The County acknowledged that the lack of notice to highway travelers by non-existent or obscured signs at the wayside raised "fundamental due process" concerns. (R. 34, 25; R. 35, 1-5).

not be said to have done anything wrong by following the wayside sign into the wayside to turn around.

IV. No Reasonable nor Articulable Suspicious Activity

The trial court correctly determined that the deputy's stop of Dahlke's car did not meet the level required for an investigatory stop. Deputy Olson first testified that the mere turning into the wayside was suspicious to him. (R. 22:5, 16-18). The late hour was the main concern of the deputy. Id. The deputy had observed no traffic violations. By the time the deputy arrived at the wayside, the Dahlke car had already made a u-turn and had begun traveling toward the exit in the direction of the deputy's squad car. Dahlke did not exhibit any furtive behaviors. To the contrary, he traveled in the direction of the deputy's squad car dispelling any suggestion of flight. Dahlke's driving did not indicate any intention of using the park area to the east of the wayside. Dahlke car did not stop or park. While Deputy Olson testified that he knew illegal drugs, drinking and other "suspicious" activities occurred in the park after hours, the deputy had no other articulable facts that would indicate that the inhabitants of Dahlke's car would be involved in such activities.

In a recent unpublished case heard by District III, a similar situation arose and that court held that the stop was improper. In State v. Lind, 2014 WI App 110, 357 Wis. 2d 723, 855 N.W.2d 905, an officer observed an unfamiliar automobile pull into the driveway of another police officer's home that he knew lived there. It was in the early morning hours and he had never seen a vehicle pull in to the driveway before. The vehicle did not immediately pull out but stayed in the driveway for "a minute or two" when the officer made his stop. In Lind, The trial court had based its denial of the motion to suppress on a message the patrol officer received from the homeowner that no one was at home and to "check on it". However, the Court of Appeals for District III overturned the decision because the patrol officer had made the decision to make the stop before getting the homeowner response. That court held that an unfamiliar car pulling into and acquaintances driveway at an early hour did not reach the level of reasonable and articulable suspicion necessary to disregard the 4th Amendment protections Lind enjoyed. Lind, 2014 WI App 110, ¶13-14 ("...the public must have a robust right against unreasonable intrusion."). This case is similar. As the deputy testified, he had all the suspicion he needed merely because the Dahlke car had pulled into the wayside a short time after midnight. Unlike Lind, the trial court here agreed that the deputy had failed to show the probable cause necessary for the stop. This court should uphold the trial court's order.

CONCLUSION

The trial court found that simply traveling into the wayside was not subject to the park rules and implicitly found as a matter of fact that the park was distinct from the wayside. The evidence supported this finding since the park sign was located at the entrance to the park area and not at the entrance to the marked and signed wayside. This finding is not clearly erroneous and should be upheld.

The County agreed and waived its claim that the stop was justified by the County park closure ordinance.

Finally, the trial court correctly found that simply pulling into a wayside to turn around was not enough to justify the stop. The trial court was, therefore, correct in suppressing the results of the stop. The trial court's order suppressing the stop and its fruits and dismissing the case is supported by both the facts and the law.